

Mini Review Image-based Analysis to Study Plant Infection with Human Pathogens

Marek Schikora^a, Adam Schikora^{b,*}

^a Fraunhofer Institute for Communication, Information Processing and Ergonomics FKIE, Fraunhoferstrasse 20, 53343 Wachtberg, Germany ^b Institute for Phytopathology and Applied Zoology, IFZ, JLU Giessen, 35392 Giessen, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Available online 28 September 2014

Keywords: Human pathogens Phytopathometry Data fusion Image classification Our growing awareness that contaminated plants, fresh fruits and vegetables are responsible for a significant proportion of food poisoning with pathogenic microorganisms indorses the demand to understand the interactions between plants and human pathogens. Today we understand that those pathogens do not merely survive on or within plants, they actively infect plant organisms by suppressing their immune system. Studies on the infection process and disease development used mainly physiological, genetic, and molecular approaches, and image-based analysis provides yet another method for this toolbox. Employed as an observational tool, it bears the potential for objective and high throughput approaches, and together with other methods it will be very likely a part of data fusion approaches in the near future.

© 2014 Schikora, Schikora. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of the Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).

Contents

1.	Phytopathometry in Use
2.	Plants as Source for Human Pathogens 2
3.	How to Use Image-Based Analysis to Study Infection with Human Pathogens
4.	Visible Spectrum Analysis – Image-Based Classification
5.	Color Spaces
6.	Segmentation
7.	Features
8.	Classification
9.	Using Image Analysis to Study Plant Defense Responses to Human Pathogens
10.	Hyperspectral analysis of plant diseases
11.	Conclusions
Refer	ences

1. Phytopathometry in Use

Identification and quantification of plant diseases are required for the adequate plant protection, the determination of crop losses, and the design of breeding strategies in agriculture [1]. The use of images in disease control and survey has a long tradition. Already 90 years ago aerial pictures made from airplanes were used to study crop diseases on fields in the USA [2,3]. Since then image-based detection of disease symptoms constantly improved. Today, not only detection, but also very sophisticated and informative analysis is possible. Those can, and use, the full spectra of electro-magnetic radiation. However,

* Corresponding author. *E-mail address:* adam.schikora@agrar.uni-giessen.de (A. Schikora). the vast majority uses images based on the UV, visual and infrared spectra. Image-based analysis is also a powerful tool in studies of plant physiology, especially the responses to pathogen attack at the organism or tissue levels.

The different aspects of image-based detection and measurement of disease symptoms in plants are under constant development and were reviewed in several recent publications [1,4,5]. In 1966, E. C. Large introduced the general term phytopathometry to describe the quantification of plant disease [6]. Few decades later, Nutter and coworkers together with the American Phytopathological Society defined several other terms related to measurable symptoms of plant diseases [7,8]. Among them they defined: "disease severity" as the proportion or percentage of sample unit (fruit, plant or field) showing the symptoms. "Disease incidence" as the proportion of individual plants or plant organs within

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2014.09.010

2001-0370/© 2014 Schikora. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of the Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).

the total number of assessed individuals and "disease prevalence" as the proportion of fields, areas or countries in which the disease was detected. Also the term "disease intensity" related to the amount of disease in the host population was introduced. Hence, many studies concentrate on disease severity, describing the distribution of symptoms caused by pathogens on plant organs (leaves, stems, roots, etc.) or in plant populations at flied, forest or grassland scale.

The visible symptoms, observed on plants and caused by the propagation of a pathogen might be based on different physiological phenomena. For instance, fruit or leaf soft rot diseases caused by diverse bacteria from the Erwinia, Pseudomonas, Bacillus, or Clostridium groups [9], are the result of disintegration of plant tissues by bacterial enzymes. Those, the enzymes, are secreted to the surroundings and cause destruction of the middle lamella followed by maceration of cell walls and the cellular content. Many fungal pathogens exhibiting necrotrophic lifestyle (Botrytis spp., Alternaria spp., or Rhizoctonia spp.) also rely on an active degradation of host tissues, causing in consequence, well visible disease symptoms [10]. Such symptoms are often referred to as necrosis. On the other hand, biotrophic or hemibiotrophic pathogens may trigger intense activation of defense mechanism known as hypersensitive response (HR). HR occurs within few hours or days after inoculation and results in localized cell death. Very often HR is the consequence of the so-called effector-triggered immunity (ETI), which occurs when the plant recognizes the effector proteins injected by the pathogen into the plant cell [11]. The function of this rapid cell death, or HR, is to counteract the systemic spreading of the pathogen. Although both necrosis and HR originate from different mechanisms, their result is a change of leaf or other tissue appearances. Those morphological differences can be easily visualized using the visible part of the electromagnetic spectrum by analog or digital photography [1]. Necrosis and HR are however, not the only possible outcome of a pathogen attack. Upon recognition of a pathogen plants may close their stomata and therefore restrict the access to mesophyll tissue [12-14]. Because of the physiological functions of stomata, which are gas exchange and the control of inner surface evaporation, stomatal closure results in an increase of leaf temperature [15]. Those differences can be assessed using for example infrared imaging. In the same manner, pathogens affecting plant metabolism can influence the content of plants chlorophyll and other pigments, which in turn changes the plants' autofluorescence and can be visualized using the near-UV spectrum imaging. Taking together, plant physiology and their reactions to pathogen attack offer multiple possibilities for an image-based assessment of changes and hence the detection and measurement of disease symptoms.

2. Plants as Source for Human Pathogens

Numerous pathogenic bacteria seem to have a fairly broad spectrum of host organisms. Among these, Salmonella spp., Pseudomonas spp., Klebsiella spp., Escherichia coli EHEC, and others efficiently proliferate in animal and plant organisms [16-18]. Salmonella enterica is one of the main causes of food-borne poisonings today. Salmonellosis is unfortunately a constant threat to human health not only in developing but also in developed countries. A large study conducted in 2007 showed that in the UK, the Netherlands, Germany and Ireland 0.1 to 2.3% of pre-cut products were contaminated with Salmonella bacteria [19]. Another European study from 2009 revealed that 2.5% of fresh produce were contaminated with Salmonella [19]. In the USA, one out of six citizens is estimated to infect himself by eating contaminated food [20]. Salmonella infections have not declined in the last 15 years, making the non-typhoidal strains the leading cause of food poisoning. In cases related to domestic food poisoning in the USA, salmonellosis was responsible for 35% of the hospitalizations and 28% of deceases [21]. Poultry and eggs are commonly associated with Salmonella outbreaks; however, 20% of infections from 2004 to 2008 were linked to other sources including: sprouts, leafy greens, roots, grain-beans, fruits and nuts [20]. The assumption that *Salmonella* passively survives on plants after occasional contaminations changed in the last few years. Research on the interaction between plants and these bacteria suggests an active infection process [22–31].

In order to deploy the host immune system S. enterica uses diverse effector proteins, those proteins interact with the host immune system and inhibit or abolish its action. Effectors are usually injected into host cytoplasm by Type III Secretion Systems (T3SSs), those secretion apparatuses function as molecular needle and allow the translocation of bacterial proteins (e.g. effectors) into the host cytoplasm [32]. Salmonella has two T3SSs, which secret different yet overlapping sets of effector proteins that function at different stages of the infection. Giving the importance for human health, the suppression of the animal immune system by Salmonella is very intensely studied. We know already 44 effectors, which are injected into animal host cells, and for many of them we know the function and the target proteins [33]. Interestingly, bacterial effectors often target signaling cascades, which are important regulators of the immune response in animals and plants. For instance, the SpvC effector from Salmonella spp. encodes a phosphothreonine lyase that dephosphorylates and therefore deactivates the ERK1/2 kinases, key regulators of animal immune system [34–36]. Another effector protein, the integral membrane protein SseF [37] together with SseG, is responsible for the formation of Salmonella-induced filaments, an elongated tubular structure within which the bacteria reside in animal cells. In plant cells, SseF is recognized and triggers the above-discussed HR [38].

Although several Salmonella effectors have homologues in phytopathogenic bacteria: e.g.: HopAI1 is a homologue of SpvC in Pseudomonas spp. [39] and HopAO1 is a functional homologue of SptP [40], the function of Salmonella proteins during the inactivation of the plant immune system remains elusive. Nonetheless, it is very tempting to speculate that biochemical features of those effectors are conserved between animal and plant hosts. This would provide Salmonella and other pathogenic bacteria with an efficient toolbox for suppression of plant immune system [18]. Such suppression was already reported. Recent study on the interaction between tobacco plants and Salmonella Typhimurium showed that in contrast to living bacteria, dead bacteria elicited an oxidative burst and pH changes in tobacco cells [31]. Similar response was provoked by the *invA* mutant, which lacks one of the T3SS [31]. Those results suggest that Salmonella depends on the secretion of effectors to actively suppress tobacco immune responses. Two transcriptome analyses performed after inoculation of Arabidopsis plants with the wild type S. Typhimurium strain 14028s and the prgH, a T3SS mutant, revealed a similar scenario [30,41]. The prgH mutant, similar to invA lacking one of the T3SS, induced the expression of more genes than the wild type bacteria, and the majority of which were related to defense responses, suggesting that the wild type bacteria are able to suppress the expression of a set of defense related genes. Moreover, mutants impaired in their T3SSs were less virulent towards Arabidopsis plants than wild type bacteria [30,42].

Taking together, recently published results indicate that *Salmonella* uses plants as alternative hosts and that these bacteria could, similarly to the infection in animals, actively suppresses the plant defense mechanisms. Whether these bacteria use the same or different effectors in order to achieve this goal is not yet clear, it seems however to be acceptable to conclude that *Salmonella* requires T3SSs during interaction with plants.

3. How to Use Image-Based Analysis to Study Infection with Human Pathogens

Visible symptoms caused by *Salmonella* on plant leaves depend on several mechanisms: i) The recognition of bacterial effectors, as in the case of SseF, which triggers the HR as a part of the ETI response [38]; ii) the suppression of ETI and therefore the HR as indicated by the inability to do so by mutants in T3SS [42,43]; iii) the serotype of the

strain, strains belonging to the *S. enterica* serogroup E4 (O: 1, 3, 19): Cannstatt, Krefeld, Liverpool, and Senftenberg induced chlorosis and wilting in *Arabidopsis* leaves. In contrast, strains lacking the *O*-antigen (Typhimurium, Enteritidis, Heidelberg and Agona, as well as strains of *S. enterica* subspecies *arizonae* and *diarizonae*) were not causing any visible symptoms [44]; and iv) not less important: the plant species itself, infiltration of tobacco, for example, had no impact on the macroscopic appearance of the leaves [31], whereas in *Arabidopsis*, infiltration with *Salmonella* caused eventually the death of infiltrated leaves [29,42].

Besides, or maybe because of the multitude in interactions between this bacterium and plants, change in leaves', and other tissues', appearance is a good way to assess very different questions. The virulence towards plant is the obvious one. In addition, using the plethora of genetic tools available for many plants and pathogenic bacteria, recent studies commenced to uncover more detailed information on the interactions between plants and microorganisms considered previously as human or animal pathogens (for review see: [16,41,45–47]).

4. Visible Spectrum Analysis - Image-Based Classification

The analysis of plant leaves and other tissues can be efficiently done using an analysis of images taken with standard visible spectrum cameras. Although the process of gaining images is nowadays easily accomplished, the automatic inspection of those data is still a challenging task. Usually, the involved algorithms need to perform a couple of preprocessing steps before the actual classification can be done. These steps comprise: a transformation of the complex color space, a detection of leaves in images (segmentation), extraction of features from the raw image data and finally the actual classification. The latter assigns to each pixel a predefined class, e.g. healthy or infected. Below we present how those steps could be deciphered.

5. Color Spaces

Cameras designed for the visible spectrum usually deliver color images using the RGB color model with three main colors: red, green and blue [48]. However, for an image analysis such color model is not well suited, since already slight variations of the illumination have an effect on all color channels. Because of this problem, a color model transformation is usually applied as a preprocessing step. As suitable models, the HSI or HSV, with following channels: hue, saturation and intensity or value, or the I11213 model were proposed by many authors [1,42, 49]. The drawback of HSI and HSV models is the hue channel, which is defined via color angles with values in the range of 0 (red) to 360° (red) and both extreme points corresponding to the same color. In order to avoid this problem the I11213 color model was developed [50]. The transformation from RGB to I11213 is linear and therefore very fast. The intensity information is transformed into the first channel. The relevant color information is decoded in the second and third channels (Fig. 1). With this preprocessing, the segmentation of the captured images into e.g. "leaf" and "non-leaf" areas is far more robust.

6. Segmentation

The problem of extracting relevant object(s) from an image can be seen as the segmentation of an image into two regions, foreground and background. All pixels labeled as foreground count as part of an object and are therefore candidates for further analysis. Image segmentation is a common task in computer vision, and many solutions have been proposed in order to solve this problem. The best solutions were offered by variational approaches. Here, an energy or cost functional is formulated and minimized. The minimum of this functional is the desired segmented image. Three main classes of variational approaches for image segmentation exist. The first one is level sets [51-53], the main advantage is the continuously formulated and minimized energy functional and hence no need for discretization, i.e. the functional is solved independent of the actual image resolution. This enables more natural segmentation boundaries. On the other hand, the local minimization of the energy functional, used within the level set framework, does not necessarily lead to globally optimal solutions. The second class is graph cuts [54-57] with two main advantages: the computation time is very short, even for large images, and the gained solution is guaranteed to lie within a defined boundary around the global optimal solution for the minimization problem. The main disadvantage of these approaches is the discrete formulation on a graph, which leads to discretization errors. A combination of the benefits from those two classes constitutes the third one: total variation (TV) minimization using the total variation norm. Chan et al. proposed this method in 2004 for image segmentation of intensity-based images using a transformed version of the Mumford–Shah model [58]. Since then many improvements have been presented, establishing TV as the standard technique in this field [59.60]. The only drawback of these approaches is its relative high computational burden. Nevertheless, the computation can be usually scheduled as parallel tasks and processed on a graphical processing unit (GPU), which for most of the applications leads to acceptable execution time. In case of leaf images, the best results were obtained using images of cut-off leaves on rather homogeneous background. Recently however, an approach was proposed for segmenting



Fig. 1. Transformation RGB \rightarrow I1I2I3.

leaves in images of intact plant, aiming at the identification of such leaves features as trichomes or anthocyanin accumulation [61].

7. Features

Several approaches to classify leaf regions into different states, e.g. infected vs. non-infected have been proposed. All of them require the transformation of the raw pixel into a feature space. This reduces the dimension and enables better decision boundaries. Features can be separated into two sets: pixel-wise and region-wise. Pixel-wise features usually use only the color information e.g. the I2 and I3 values after color transformation [62]. For region-wise features, the information of the surrounding around the central pixel is concentrated, e.g. color histogram, first and second moments, and gradient distributions [63,64].

8. Classification

Having a feature set of the extracted image region the image analysis algorithm has to classify the pixel or region into one or multiple classes, depending on the task. Typically this is done via supervised learning, where a pre-labeled data set exists. From this data set the algorithm needs to learn how the different classes appear in images.

Two main classification approaches have been proposed in the field of image analysis:

Neural Networks

Since the works of Rosenblatt, Neural Networks (NNs) have been a popular tool for classification in images [65]. In 2011, Al-Hiray and coworkers used a NN to distinguish between healthy and unhealthy leaf regions [63]. Since the 2000s also other methods have been used to overcome the computational burden of NN. However, the concept of deep learning has brought NN back to the focus of current research, making NN more efficient and applicable in various pattern recognition problems [66,67].

• Support Vector Machines

Since the work of Vapnik [68], Support Vector Machines (SVMs) have become a powerful tool for classification and regression analysis. Based on a training set, SVM builds typically a hyperplane that can be seen as a separation of the training set in the feature space. In addition, using the kernel-trick, SVM can be used for non-linear separable data. In our previous report, SVM has been used to classify pixels belonging to infected and non-infected areas of *Arabidopsis* leaves inoculated with *Salmonella*. In this study, the accuracy of SVM was higher than for Bayesian classifiers [42]. Also in the study of diseases on grapes, SVM performed better than the NN approach [69].

9. Using Image Analysis to Study Plant Defense Responses to Human Pathogens

The fact that plants, e.g. *Arabidopsis*, inoculated with human pathogens exhibit disease symptoms allows the use of image-based approaches to monitor the infection process. In addition, it allows studying the defense mechanisms employed by plants to fight the pathogen as well as the strategies used by those pathogens to suppress the plant immune system. One of the possible examples was studied during the inoculation of *Arabidopsis* plants with *Salmonella* mutants lacking the T3SS apparatus [42]. In this study, symptoms (defined as a color change of the observed leaves) caused by the different mutants were used to reveal that this bacterium might use a similar strategy to suppress human and plant immune systems.

Different color variation models can be employed to distinguish the "healthy" and "unhealthy" regions in leaf images. A probabilistic algorithm, employing a Gaussian Mixture Model (GMM) and a Bayesian classifier for classification of disease symptoms in Arabidopsis plants was already presented [49]. However, results from Bayes-like classifiers can be inaccurate, because the estimation of a robust GMM is not always possible from real data. To overcome these limitations a different classification strategy was proposed. In order to classify pixels of leaf images, the proposed algorithm used the color feature space as input information for SVM [42]. An overview of the steps described in this paper is presented in Fig. 2. First, a segmentation method was applied to obtain a binary image with only foreground and background information. Each pixel belonging to the foreground region was then given as an input to a linear SVM classifier for prediction of the class to which it belongs. After identification of all pixels belonging to the foreground, the neighborhood information has been used to alter the result of pixels classified as "unhealthy". The GMM approach reached a correct classification rate of 91.5% however, the SVM approach could improve the results and a correct classification rate of 95.8% was achieved (Fig. 3) [42]. Nonetheless, it should be noted that results discussed above were obtain with a labeled data set. If only unlabeled data sets are available, Bayesian classifiers are very well applicable because they can be use within an unsupervised learning strategy [70].



Fig. 2. Overview of the algorithm proposed in [42]. An Arabidopsis leaf with almost monochromatic background was the input for the algorithm. A segmentation method was applied to identify pixels belonging to the leaf. Those pixels are classified using a linear SVM classifier. The output from classifier was further refined through a neighborhood-check method.



Fig. 3. Comparison between the SVM and the Bayesian approach. The figure shows result from a Bayesian and a SVM based classification. The difference is clearly noticeable in the right leaf in the image, where portions are left unmarked by the Bayesian classifier (B). Higher accuracy can be achieved by using the SVM classifier (C).

10. Hyperspectral analysis of plant diseases

In the field of remote sensing, hyperspectral analysis has become a major tool for the surveillance of large agricultural areas. Here, the cameras gain images not only in the visible or the infrared spectrum, but also in multiple spectrum bands. The main advantage is that different physiological conditions of plants can be identified in different bands (spectra) and therefore the classification becomes more reliable. A hyperspectral analysis can analyze and measure data related to growth, disease infestation, water availability, or fertilization. The Normalized Differenced Vegetation Index (NDVI) [71] is used to determine if living green vegetation is present in images or not. Beside this index other index values have been discovered [72,73]. Hyperspectral sensors are usually big and expensive, thus they have been deployed mainly for satellite installations. However, nowadays small, hyperspectral cameras become available (with a limited number of bands) and are already used for plant inspection in a smaller scale [74]. Nevertheless, the potential of hyperspectral analysis was so far not used for image-based analysis to study plant infections with human pathogens.

11. Conclusions

The potential of image-based analysis in the detection and monitoring of plant disease is well accepted. The use of these techniques to study plant infections with potentially human pathogenic microorganisms is a new and developing area. It is very tempting to speculate that in the near future, image analysis will be joined by other related techniques such as non-imaging spectroradiometry, high resolution mass spectrometry imaging [75], or high throughput protein–protein interactome studies [76]. Such conjunctive systems will allow very informative data fusion approaches and surely boost our knowledge on those interactions. Such knowledge is of great importance for our own health and therefore for new strategies aiming at prevention of food-originated diseases.

References

- Bock CH, Nutter FW. Detection and measurement of plant disease symptoms using visible-wavelength photography and image analysis. CAB Rev: Perspect Agric Vet Sci Nutr Nat Resour 2011;6.
- [2] Neblette CB. Aerial photography for the study of plant disease. Photo-Era Magazine 1927;58:346.
- [3] Taubenhaus JJ, Ezekiel WN, Neblette CB. Airplane photography in the study of cotton rot. Phytopathology 1929;19:1025–9.
- [4] Bock CH, Poole GH, Parker PE, Gottwald TR. Plant disease severity estimated visually, by digital photography and image analysis, and by hyperspectral imaging. Crit Rev Plant Sci 2010;29:59–107.
- [5] Savary S, Teng PS, Willocquet L, Nutter Jr FW. Quantification and modeling of crop losses: a review of purposes. Annu Rev Phytopathol 2006;44:89–112.
- [6] Large EC. Measuring plant disease. Annu Rev Phytopathol 1966;4:9–26.
 [7] Nutter FW. Disease assessment terms and concepts. In: Malov OC. Murray TD. editors.
- Nutter FW. Disease assessment terms and concepts. In: Maloy Oc, Willry JD, ethols Encyclopedia of plant pathology. New York: John Wiley and Sons; 2001. p. 312–23.
 Nutter FW. Teng PS. Shokes FM. Disease assessment terms and concepts. Plant Disease assessment terms.
- [8] Nutter FW, Teng PS, Shokes FM. Disease assessment terms and concepts. Plant Dis 1991;75:1187-8.
 [9] Agrios GN. Plant diseases caused by prokaryotes: bacteria and mollicutes. Plant
- [9] Agrios Gr. Plant diseases caused by provaryotes: bacteria and monicutes. Plan pathology. Elsevier Academic Press; 2004.
- [10] Agrios GN. Plant diseases caused by fungi. Plant pathology. 5th ed. Elsevier Academic Press; 2004.
- [11] Jones JD, Dangl JL. The plant immune system. Nature 2006;444:323–9.
- [12] Melotto M, Underwood W, He SY. Role of stomata in plant innate immunity and foliar bacterial diseases. Annu Rev Phytopathol 2008;46:101–22.
- [13] Montillet JL, Leonhardt N, Mondy S, Tranchimand S, Rumeau D, et al. An abscisic acid-independent oxylipin pathway controls stomatal closure and immune defense in Arabidopsis. PLoS Biol 2013;11.
- [14] Zeng WQ, Melotto M, He SY. Plant stomata: a checkpoint of host immunity and pathogen virulence. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2010;21:599–603.
- [15] Hopkins WG, Hüner NPA. Introduction to plant physiology. 4th ed. 2009.
- [16] Brandl MT, Cox CE, Teplitski M. Salmonella interactions with plants and their associated microbiota. Phytopathology 2013;103:316–25.
- [17] Fletcher J, Leach JE, Eversole K, Tauxe R. Human pathogens on plants: designing a multidisciplinary strategy for research. Phytopathology 2013;103:306–15.
- [18] Schikora A, Garcia AV, Hirt H. Plants as alternative hosts for Salmonella. Trends Plant Sci 2012;17:245–9.
- [19] Westrell T, Ciampa N, Boelaert F, Helwigh B, Korsgaard H, et al. Zoonotic infections in Europe in 2007: a summary of the EFSA-ECDC annual report. Euro Surveill 2009;14.
- [20] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention C. CDC Estimates of Foodborne Illness in the United States; 2011 (CS218786-A CS218786-A).
- [21] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention C. Making food safer to eat: reducing contamination from the farm to the table; 2011 (4 pp.).
- [22] Barak JD, Gorski L, Naraghi-Arani P, Charkowski AO. Salmonella enterica virulence genes are required for bacterial attachment to plant tissue. Appl Environ Microbiol 2005;71:5685–91.
- [23] Barak JD, Kramer LC, Hao LY. Colonization of tomato plants by *Salmonella enterica* is cultivar dependent, and type 1 trichomes are preferred colonization sites. Appl Environ Microbiol 2011;77:498–504.
- [24] Barak JD, Liang A, Narm K-E. Differential attachment to and subsequent contamination of agricultural crops by Salmonella enterica. Appl Environ Microbiol 2008;74.
- [25] Golberg DK Y, Belausovl E, Pinto R, Sela S. Salmonella Typhimurium internalization is variable in leafy vegetables and fresh herbs. Int J Food Microbiol 2011;145:250–7.
- [26] Iniguez AL, Dong Y, Carter HD, Ahmer BM, Stone JM, Triplett EW. Regulation of enteric endophytic bacterial colonization by plant defenses. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 2005;18:169–78.
- [27] Klerks MM, F, E., van Gent-Pelzer M, Zijlstra C, van Bruggen AH. Differential interaction of Salmonella enterica serovars with lettuce cultivars and plant–microbe factors influencing the colonization efficiency. ISME J 2007;1:620–31.
- [28] Kroupitski Y, G, D., Belausov E, Pinto R, Swartzberg D, Granot D, et al. Internalization of *Salmonella enterica* in leaves is induced by light and involves chemotaxis and penetration through open stomata. Appl Environ Microbiol 2009;75:6076–86.
- [29] Schikora A, Carreri A, Charpentier E, Hirt H. The dark side of the salad: Salmonella typhimurium overcomes the innate immune response of Arabidopsis thaliana and shows an endopathogenic lifestyle. PLoS One 2008;3:e2279.
- [30] Schikora A, Virlogeux-Payant I, Bueso E, Garcia AV, Nilau T, et al. Conservation of Salmonella infection mechanisms in plants and animals. PLoS One 2011;6:e24112.
- [31] Shirron N, Yaron S. Active suppression of early immune response in tobacco by the human pathogen Salmonella Typhimurium. PLoS One 2011;6:e18855.
- [32] Heffron F, Niemann G, Yoon H, Kidwai A, Brown R, et al. Salmonella-secreted virulence factors. In: P. S, editor. Salmonella: from genome to function. San Diego, USA: Caister Academic Press; 2011. p. 187–223.

- [33] McGhie EJ, Brawn LC, Hume PJ, Humphreys D, Koronakis V. Salmonella takes control: effector-driven manipulation of the host. Curr Opin Microbiol 2009;12: 117–24.
- [34] Haneda T, Ishii Y, Shimizu H, Ohshima K, Iida N, et al. Salmonella type III effector SpvC, a phosphothreonine lyase, contributes to reduction in inflammatory response during intestinal phase of infection. Cell Microbiol 2012;14:485–99.
- [35] Li H, Xu H, Zhou Y, Zhang J, Long C, et al. The phosphothreonine lyase activity of a bacterial type III effector family. Science 2007;315:1000–3.
- [36] Mazurkiewicz P, Thomas J, Thompson JA, Liu M, Arbibe L, et al. SpvC is a Salmonella effector with phosphothreonine lyase activity on host mitogen-activated protein kinases. Mol Microbiol 2008;67:1371–83.
- [37] Muller P, Chikkaballi D, Hensel M. Functional dissection of SseF, a membraneintegral effector protein of intracellular *Salmonella enterica*. PLoS One 2012;7: e35004.
- [38] Ustun S, Muller P, Palmisano R, Hensel M, Bornke F. SseF, a type III effector protein from the mammalian pathogen *Salmonella enterica*, requires resistance-genemediated signalling to activate cell death in the model plant *Nicotiana benthamiana*. New Phytol 2012;194:1046–60.
- [39] Zhang J, Shao F, Li Y, Cui H, Chen L, et al. A *Pseudomonas syringae* effector inactivates MAPKs to suppress PAMP-induced immunity in plants. Cell Host Microbe 2007;1: 175–85.
- [40] Underwood W, Zhang S, He SY. The Pseudomonas syringae type III effector tyrosine phosphatase HopAO1 suppresses innate immunity in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant J 2007;52:658–72.
- [41] Garcia AV, Charrier A, Schikora A, Bigeard J, Pateyron S, et al. Salmonella enterica flagellin is recognized via FLS2 and activates PAMP-triggered immunity in Arabidopsis thaliana. Mol Plant 2014;7:657–74.
- [42] Schikora M, Neupane B, Madhogaria S, Koch W, Cremers D, et al. An image classification approach to analyze the suppression of plant immunity by the human pathogen *Salmonella* Typhimurium. BMC Bioinformatics 2012;13:171.
- [43] Schikora A, Schenk ST, Stein E, Molitor A, Zuccaro A, et al. N-acyl-homoserine lactone confers resistance towards biotrophic and hemibiotrophic pathogens via altered activation of AtMPK6. Plant Physiol 2011;157(3):1407–18.
- [44] Berger CN, Brown DJ, Shaw RK, Minuzzi F, Fey B, Frankel G. Salmonella enterica strains belonging to O serogroup 1,3,19 induce chlorosis and wilting of Arabidopsis thaliana leaves. Environ Microbiol 2011;13(5):1299–308.
- [45] Egan F, Barret M, O'Gara F. The SPI-1-like type III secretion system: more roles than you think. Front Plant Sci 2014;5:34.
- [46] Hernandez-Reyes C, Schikora A. Salmonella, a cross-kingdom pathogen infecting humans and plants. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2013;343:1–7.
- [47] van Overbeek LS, van Doorn J, Wichers JH, van Amerongen A, van Roermund HJ, et al. The arable ecosystem as battleground for emergence of new human pathogens. Front Microbiol 2014;5:104.
- [48] Russ JC. The image processing handbook. New York: CRC Press; 2002.
- [49] Schikora M, Schikora A, Kogel K-H, Koch W, Cremers D. Probabilistic classification of disease symptoms caused by *Salmonella* on *Arabidopsis* plants. 5th IEEE ISIF Workshop on Sensor Data Fusion: Trends, Solutions, Applications (SDF). GI-Edition, Proceedings 176: Leipzig, Germany; 2010.
- [50] Hafner W. Segmenting of video picture sequences by adaptive color classification. Munich: Technical University of Munich; 1999.
- [51] Chan TF, Vese LA. Active contours without edges. IEEE Trans Image Process 2001;10: 266–77.
- [52] Osher S, Sethian JA. Fronts propagating with curvature-dependent speed algorithms based on Hamilton–Jacobi formulations. J Comput Phys 1988;79:12–49.

- [53] Vese LA, Chan TF. A multiphase level set framework for image segmentation using the Mumford and Shah model. Int J Comput Vis 2002;50:271–93.
- [54] Boykov Y, Kolmogorov V. An experimental comparison of min-cut/max-flow algorithms for energy minimization in vision. Energy Minimization Meth Comput Vis Pattern Recognit 2001;2134:359–74.
- [55] Boykov Y, Veksler O, Zabih R. Fast approximate energy minimization via graph cuts. IEEE Trans Pattern Anal Mach Intell 2001;23:1222–39.
- [56] Greig DM, Porteous BT, Seheult AH. Exact maximum a-posteriori estimation for binary images. J R Stat Soc Series B-Methodol 1989;51:271–9.
- [57] Kolmogorov V, Zabih R. What energy functions can be minimized via graph cuts? Computer vision – ECCV 2002 Pt III, 2352; 2002 65–81.
- [58] Chan TF, Esedoglu S, Nikolova M. Algorithms for finding global minimizers of image segmentation and denoising models. SIAM J Appl Math 2006;66:1632–48.
- [59] Liang J, Park F, Zhao HK. Robust and efficient implicit surface reconstruction for point clouds based on convexified image segmentation. J Sci Comput 2013;54:577–602.
- [60] Schikora M. Global optimal multiple object detection using the fusion of shape and color information; 2009.
- [61] Ispiryan R, Grigoriev I, zu Castell W, Schäffner AR. A segmentation procedure using colour features applied to images of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Funct Plant Biol 2013;40: 1065–75.
- [62] Schikora M, Koch W, Cremers D. Pixel-based classification method for detecting unhealthy regions in leaf images. 6th IEEE ISIF Workshop on Sensor Data Fusion: Trends, Solutions, Applications; 2011.
- [63] Al-Hiary H, Bani-Ahmad S, Reyalat M, Braik M, ALRahamneh Z. Fast and accurate detection and classification of plant diseases. Int J Comput Appl 2011;17:31–8.
- [64] Bishop CM. Pattern recognition and machine learning. Information science and statistics. Springer-Verlag New York, Inc.; 2006
- [65] Rosenblatt F. The perceptron: a probabilistic model for information storage and organization in the brain. Psychol Rev 1958;65:386–408.
- [66] Bengio Y, Courville A, Vincent P. Representation learning: a review and new perspectives. IEEE Trans Pattern Anal Mach Intell 2013;35:1798–828.
- [67] Marcus G. Is "deep learning" a revolution in artificial intelligence?; 2012 (The New Yorker).
- [68] Cortes C, Vapnik V. Support-vector networks. Mach Learn 1995;20:273-97.
- [69] Tian YW, Li TL, Li CH, Piao ZL, Sun GK, Wang B. Method for recognition of grape disease based on support vector machine. Trans Chin Soc Agric Eng 2007;23.
- [70] Zribi M, Ghorbel F. An unsupervised and non-parametric Bayesian classifier. Pattern Recogn Lett 2003;24:97–112.
- [71] Crippen RE. Calculating the vegetation index faster. Remote Sens Environ 1990;34: 71–3.
- [72] Jiang ZY, Huete AR, Didan K, Miura T. Development of a two-band enhanced vegetation index without a blue band. Remote Sens Environ 2008;112:3833–45.
- [73] Huete A, Didan K, Miura T, Rodriguez EP, Gao X, et al. Overview of the radiometric and biophysical performance of the MODIS vegetation indices. Remote Sens Environ 2002;83:195–213.
- [74] Mahlein AK, Steiner U, Hillnhutter C, Dehne HW, Oerke EC. Hyperspectral imaging for small-scale analysis of symptoms caused by different sugar beet diseases. Plant Methods 2012;8.
- [75] Rompp A, Spengler B. Mass spectrometry imaging with high resolution in mass and space. Histochem Cell Biol 2013;139:759–83.
- [76] Schleker S, Garcia-Garcia J, Klein-Seetharaman J, Oliva B. Prediction and comparison of Salmonella-human and Salmonella–Arabidopsis interactomes. Chem Biodivers 2012;9:991–1018.